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KENNETH A. ROCCO, A.J.:  

{¶1} Plaintiff-appellant, Allen Ringel, appeals from the 

common pleas court’s dismissal of his complaint.  His brief lists 

some 13 assignments of error, as set forth in the attached 

appendix.  We find no error in the court’s ruling and affirm its 

judgment. 

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

{¶2} The complaint in this case was filed on May 28, 2002.  In 

it, plaintiff listed some eight “counts,” each of which consisted 

of a single legal assertion, unsupported by any factual 

allegations.  These counts state: 

“COUNT 1:DEFENDANTS HAVE VIOLATED 
PLAINTIFFS RIGHT TO REDRESS FOR INJURY; 
DUE PROCESS PER ARTICLE I SECTION O Const 
Sub-Sec. 16. 

 
“COUNT 2 : DEFENDANTS HAVE VIOLATED 
PLAINTIFF [sic] RIGHT OF TRIAL BY JURY 
PER ARTICLE I SECTION O  Const I Sub-Sec. 
5. 

 
“COUNT 3 : DEFENDANTS HAVE VIOLATED 
PLAINTIFFS RIGHT TO EQUAL PROTECTION AND 
BENEFIT BY PITTING 3 OR MORE ATTORNEYS 
AGAINST A SINGLE PRO SE PLAINTIFF AT ONE 
TIME. 

 
“COUNT 4 : DEFENDANTS HAVE VIOLATED 
THE OHIO STATUTE OF FRAUDS AS TO GIVING 
OTHER CANDIDATES PREFERENTIAL TREATMENT 
IN VIOLATION O.R.C. 1335.0 ET SEQ. ON 
CERTAIN AGREEMENTS TO BE IN WRITING 
RESULTING IN THE MISCARRIAGE OF A NOTHER 
[sic] PERSON. 



 
 

“COUNT 5 : BY DIRECT AND PROXIMATE 
ACTS OF DEFENDANTS HAVE LIBELED SLANDERED 
[sic] PLAINTIFFS GOOD NAME. 

 
“COUNT 6 : BY DIRECT AND PROXIMATE 
ACTS OF DEFENDANTS DENYING PLAINTIFF 
ACCESS TO THE FRESHMAN CLASS DEFENDANTS 
HAVE CREATED A BASIS FOR PROMISSORY 
ESTOPPEL DUE TO THE CONSTITUTIONAL FACT 
THAT PLAINTIFF HAS A LIBERTY INTERST 
[sic] IN BEING ABLE TO PRACTICE THE 
CHOSEN PROFESSION OF MEDICAL DOCTOR. 

 
“COUNT 7 : PLAINTIFF HAS HAD AN 
INFRINGEMENT ON HIS MATRICULATION RIGHTS 
TO MEDICAL SCHOOL AS A REJECTION FROM ONE 
SCHOOL CAUSES A CASCADING EFFECT WITH THE 
REMAINDER RESULTING IN FORECLOSURE 
ESTOPPEL AT OTHER PROFESSIONAL SCHOOLS. 

 
“COUNT 8 : DEFENDANTS HAVE CLEARLY 
DEPRIVED PLAINTIFFS [sic] OF MANY OF HIS 
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS DERIVED FROM A 
COMMON NUCLEUS OF OPERATIVE FACT “ HENCE 
FORTH “ : INVOKING THE DOCTRINE OF 
PENDANT JURISDICTION; See United Mine 
Workers of America v. Gibbs, 383 U.S. 715 
(1966).” 

 
{¶3} At the conclusion of the complaint, plaintiff stated that 

the factual basis for his complaint was that “[i]n the process of  

plaintiff applying to defendants’ school of medicine plaintiff 

found gross disparities and illicit practices composing the 

candidate selection process.” 

{¶4} On July 23, 2002, defendant-appellee Case Western Reserve 

University (“CWRU”) moved to dismiss the complaint for failure to 

state a claim.  Appellant immediately moved to strike the motion to 

dismiss.  



 
{¶5} On November 19, 2001, the court granted CWRU’s motion to 

dismiss.  The court found that plaintiff could prove no set of 

facts which would entitle him to relief under Counts 1, 2, and 3 of 

the complaint, because the constitutional claims which plaintiff 

asserted in those counts could not be maintained against a private 

entity.  The court further held that plaintiff could prove no set 

of facts entitling him to relief under count 4, because the statute 

of frauds is a defense, and not a cause of action.  The court 

determined that plaintiff failed to state any facts in support of 

his claim for defamation in count 5, so that count also failed to 

state a claim.  The court held that plaintiff had no right to be 

admitted to medical school; because this was the premise of the 

claim alleged in counts 6 and 7, plaintiff failed to state a claim 

in these counts.  Finally, the court found that the doctrine of 

pendent jurisdiction had no application in the common pleas court 

and did not create a cause of action, so plaintiff could prove no 

set of facts entitling him to relief under count 8 of the 

complaint.   

{¶6} The court noted that appellant had previously filed a 

complaint against CWRU which was dismissed without prejudice for 

failure to state a claim, allowing appellant the opportunity to 

refile a complaint with proper causes of action.  It also noted 

that it had allowed appellant the opportunity to retain counsel in 

this case, but he elected not to do so.  The court found CWRU had a 

competing interest in being protected from the burden and expense 



 
of groundless litigation.  Therefore, the court dismissed the 

complaint with prejudice. 

LAW AND ANALYSIS 

{¶7} Appellant’s brief in this case consists of (a) a list of 

sixty-three citations; (b) a list of thirteen assignments of error; 

(c) a one-page “statement of the case” briefly describing how 

appellant applied for and was denied admission to CWRU’s medical 

school; (d) a two-page “memorandum of law and argument”; and (e) a 

one paragraph “concluding prayer.”   

{¶8} The memorandum of law contains no citations to the record 

or to legal authority, and no argument of the merits of the legal 

contentions raised in the assignments of error.  All assignments 

are addressed in three paragraphs.  The first assignment of error 

is discussed separately in one paragraph; the second through the 

sixth assignments are then addressed together in the next 

paragraph, and the seventh through the thirteenth assignments are 

addressed together in the third paragraph. 

{¶9} App.R. 12(A) allows this court to disregard alleged 

errors not specifically pointed out in the record and separately 

argued by brief.  Appellant has failed to argue separately any of 

the assignments of error except, perhaps, the first.  Therefore, we 

will disregard the second through the thirteenth assignments of 

error.  Hawley v. Ritley (1988), 35 Ohio St.3d 157, 158; North 

Coast Cookies, Inc. v. Sweet Temptations, Inc. (1984), 16 Ohio 

App.3d 342, 344. 



 
{¶10} The first assignment of error is separately 

addressed in the brief, so we will consider it.  Appellant 

complains that the court erred by dismissing his claims without 

addressing the merits of other pending motions and without 

considering evidence.  A motion to dismiss for failure to state a 

claim asserts that the appellant can prove no set of facts which 

would entitle him to relief.  Neither evidence nor other motions 

are relevant to this determination; if the court makes this 

finding, it has determined that plaintiff cannot succeed on any 

basis.  Therefore, we find the court did not err by dismissing 

appellant’s claims without considering evidence and other motions. 

 We overrule the first assignment of error and affirm the common 

pleas court’s decision. 

 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE  
KENNETH A. ROCCO 

 
ANN DYKE, J. and 

 
COLLEEN CONWAY COONEY, J. CONCUR 

 
APPENDIX 

 
“ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS 

 
{¶11} “A.O.E. 1 TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS OR HER DISCRETION IN 

DISMISSAL OF SAID INSTANT ACTION WITHOUT THE REVIEW OF ANY AND/OR ALL 
EVIDENCE PLAINTIFF BROUGHT TO BAR.  
 

{¶12} “A.O.E. 2 TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS OR HER DISCRETION BY SETTING 
TIME AND DATE OF SAID JURY TRIAL TO BE ON 23JAN03 [sic] BUT WITHOUT CAUSE 
SHOWNOBSTRUCTS [sic] JUSTICE BY STOPPING SAID JURY TRIAL. 
 

{¶13} “A.O.E. 3 TRIAL JUDGE FAILED TO RENDER VERDICT IN FAVOR OF 
PLAINTIFF WITH RESPECT PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR DEFAULT JUDGEMENT. 



 
 

{¶14} “A.O.E. 4 TRIAL JUDGE FAILED TO RENDER VERDICT IN FAVOR OF 
PLAINTIFF WITH REPECT [sic] PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGEMENT PER 
CIV. R. 8(A) AND 56(A) SO FILED BY PLAINTIFF ON 08JUL02 [sic]. 
 

{¶15} “A.O.E. 5 TRIAL JUDGE FAILED TO RENDER VERDICT IN FAVOR OF 
PLAINTIFF WITH RESPECT TO PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR DECLARATORY JUDGEMENT. 
 

{¶16} “A.O.E. 6 TRIAL JUDGE FAILED TO HOLD AN INJUCTIVE [sic] RELIF 
[sic] HEARING PER CIV. R. 65(b)(2); R. 55(A) AND R. 50(A)(5); AS SO FILED 
ON 19AUG02 [sic] BY MOTION OF PLAINTIFF. 
 

{¶17} “A.O.E. 7 TRIAL JUDGE VIOLATED PLAINTIFF SACRED OHIO 
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS AS ENUMERATED BY THE 124TH OHIO GENERAL ASSEMBLY 
SUBSECTIONS : 1.01 INALIENABLE RIGHTS; 1.16 REDRESS IN COURTS; 1.05 TRIAL 
BY JURY SHALL BE INVIOLATE. 
 

{¶18} “A.O.E. 8 TRIAL JUDGE FAILED TO APPLY THE ASH TEST AS 
PROSCRIBED IN COURT VS. ASH 422 U.S.C. 66 TO TEST FOR DERIVATIVE AND/OR 
INJUCTIVE [sic] RELIEF BEING NEEDED AS TO OBVIATE IRREVERSIBLE DAMAGE 
UPON PLAINTIFF. 
 

{¶19} “A.O.E. 9 TRIAL JUDGE FAILED TO GIVE A PRO SE LITIGANT THE 
WIDEST POSSIBLE LATTITUDE [sic] TO ARTICULATE HIS LEGAL RIGHTS TO THE 
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS AS DEMANDED IN BOAG v. MCDOUGAL, 454 U.S. 364 AND 
HAINES v. KERNER, 404 U.S. 519. 
 

{¶20} “A.O.E. 10 TRIAL JUDGE FAILED TO ENFORCE O.R.C. 4743.03(A) 
PROHIBITING ANY BOARD, COMMISSION OR AGENCY CREATED IN THE STATE OF OHIO 
UNDER TITLE 47 FROM RESTRICTING AN INDIVIDUAL FROM FULL-FILLING [sic] HIS 
OR HER EDUCATIONAL REQUIREMENTS. 
 

{¶21} “A.O.E. 11 TRIAL JUDGE FAILED TO PROTECT GRADUATES OF THE OHIO 
STATE UNIVERSITY COLUMBUS, OHIO FROM AGE DISCRIMINATION IN HIGHER 
EDUCATION HERE IN THE STATE OF OHIO AS DEMAMNED [sic] BY 42 USC 6101. 
 

{¶22} “A.O.E. 12 TRIAL JUDGE FAILED TO PROTECT GRADUATES OF THE OHIO 
STATE UNIVERSITY COLUMBUS, OHIO FROM SEX DISCRIMINATION IN HIGHER 
EDUCATION HERE IN THE STATE OF OHIO, AS DEMANDED BY 20 USC 1681. 
 

{¶23} “A.O.E. 13 TRIAL JUDGE FAILED TO ENFORCE 42 USC 2000D ON 
PROHIBITION OF EXCLUSION OF A PROTECTED CLASS FROM EXCLUSION IN HIGHER 
EDUCATION PROGRAMS SUPPORTED FROM STATE AND FEDERAL GRANTS.” 
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